IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES C. PETERSON,

Appellant, Case No. SC06-252

vs.

Lower Ct. NO. CRC00-05107-CFANO

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATE OF FLORIDA

ANDREA M. NORGARD ATTORNEY AT LAW FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 661066

P.O. BOX 811 BARTOW, FL 33831 (863)533-8556

SPECIAL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal comes to this Court following the imposition of a sentence of death by the trial court. The record on appeal consists of 28 original volumes, 7 Addendum volumes, and 4 Supplemental volumes. Each volume will be referenced by its roman numeral; "A" or "S" will designate the addendum or supplemental volumes, "R" for those documents originating from the trial court clerk, "T" for transcripts, followed by the appropriate page number. The Appellant, Charles Peterson, will be referred to as Mr. Peterson and the State of Florida as the State.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 21, 2000, the Grand Jury for the Sixth Judicial Circuit, in and for Pinellas County, Florida, returned an Indictment against the Appellant, Charles Peterson, charging him with one count of First-Degree Murder in the shooting death of John Cardoso on December 24, 1997.(I,R1-2) The State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty on February 8, 2001.(I,R41) A second Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty was filed on May 2, 2001.(I,R51)

The State's first Notice of Intent to Use Evidence of Other Crimes or Acts committed by the Defendant was filed

on May 2, 2001 with a Notice of Intent to Use DNA Testimony.(I,R53-60) The Williams Rule notice identified the following other crimes, wrongs, or acts the State intended to rely upon at trial: (1) April 30, 1981 armed burglary, kidnapping, and robbery at Jim's Spur Station; (2) February 24, 1997 armed robbery, burglary and sexual battery at the Family Dollar Store; (3) May 11, 1997 armed robbery and burglary at Walgreen's; (4) August 5, 1997 armed robbery and burglary at the Big Lot Store; (5) May 12, 1998 armed robbery and burglary at the Phar-Mor Store; (6) August 26, 1998 armed robbery and burglary at Eckerd Drugs. (I,R54-59) The State argued the evidence was necessary to prove notice, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, absence of mistake, and to rebut an innocent explanation for Mr. Peterson's behavior and possession of certain identified items.(I,R59)

The Defense responded to the <u>Williams</u> Rule Notice by requesting that the State be prohibited from introducing the evidence outlined in the Notice because it was not probative, was highly prejudicial, and was unduly prejudicial in the penalty phase as non-statutory aggravating circumstances.(IX,R1694)

A hearing was held on the defense motion in limine on

April 5, 2004.(XIV,R2376-2440) The judge ruled that the Williams rule evidence from the 1990's robberies was admissible to prove M.O/identity and intent/motive. (XIV,R2430-31) The court also ruled that the evidence of the 1981 robberies would be excluded.(XIV,R2437) The court further ruled that any evidence of the sexual battery in the Family Dollar case would not be admissible.(XIV,R2437-38) The State filed a Memorandum of Law in support of the admission of the Williams Rule evidence on April 8, 2004. (X,R1716-1814)

The parties entered into a stipulation regarding the DNA found at the Family Dollar store during a hearing on July 15, 2005. (XV,R2551)

The Office of the Public Defender moved to withdraw on March 14, 2002.(VIII,R1537) The motion was granted and private counsel was appointed on March 14, 2002. (VIII,R1538)

Objections to the death penalty under Ring were made by pre-trial motion.(IX,R1635-1650) The State's Response to the Defendant's Motion to Bar Imposition of the Death Penalty was filed on January 31, 2005.(XI,R1992-1999) The motion was denied on April 5, 2004 and again on January 28, 2005.(XIV,R240;2454) An oral motion was made to the court

on July 15, 2005 that the lack of unanimity in the penalty phase recommendation rendered the death penalty statute unconstitutional.(XV,R2584) The motion was denied. (XV,R2584)

On June 4 and 14, 2004, Defense counsel filed a Motion to Suppress Tangible Evidence from the residence at 3963 Burlington Ave. N.[the home of Mr. Peterson's father, Willie Peterson] and from the residence at 50th Ave. South [the home of Mr. Peterson's sister], arguing that the evidence at that location was improperly seized as it exceeded the scope of the search warrant and was not described with specificity in the search warrant.(X,R1817-1822) A hearing was held on the Motion on January 28, 2005.(XIV,R2455) The court took judicial notice of the search warrant and affidavits.(XIV,R2455-2457) Following argument, the testimony and court denied the motion.(XIV,R2522) The court found the warrant described items to be seized with sufficient particularity and was not overbroad.(XIV,R2522) The court further ruled that the seizure of times connected to the other robberies whose descriptions were on the list but not in the warrant did not exceed the scope of the warrant.(XIV,R2524)

The defense further moved to suppress the oral state-

ments of Mr. Peterson because he was not advised of his Miranda rights. (X,R1848-1849) The motion was withdrawn on January 28, 2005.(XIV,R2448-51)

Mr. Peterson was tried by a jury in Pinellas County form July 19, 2005 through July 27, 2005.(XII,R2075-2082)

The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on July 27, 2005. (XII,R2082;2127;XXVII,T1787)

Penalty phase was conducted on July 29, 2005.(XII,R2128) It was stipulated that Mr. Peterson was previously convicted of 8 prior felonies.(XII,R2131-2132) It was stipulated that Mr. Peterson was on Life Parole at the time of the instant offense.(XII,R2134) Defense counsel orally objected to the penalty phase jury instructions impermissibly shifted the because they burden proof.(XVI,R2770-72) The jury recommended death by a vote of 8-4.(XII,R2129)

Following the rendition of the jury recommendation, defense counsel sought to interview jurors based on comments appearing in the new media in which the jury foreman expressed her opinion that the recommendation might have been different if the Defendant had testified or taken the stand and said he was sorry.(XII,R2144-2156) The State objected to juror interviews.(XII,R2159-2163) The defense

filed further argument in response.(XII,R2166-2168) The trial court held a hearing on this issue on August 12, 2005.(XVI,R2830) Defense counsel argued that the comments of the foreperson as reported in the newspaper would substantiate a limited inquiry from the jurors as to whether or not a lack of remorse or the failure of Mr. Peterson to testify in penalty phase had influenced the recommendation.(XVI,R2833-5) A second basis for inquiry was the foreperson's statement during voir dire regarding her feelings on the failure of a defendant to testify juxtaposed with her media comments.(XVI,R2835) The court ruled there was no basis for a jury interview and denied the request.(XVI,R2845)

The defense filed a motion entitled Defense Motion Concerning Penalty Phase Proceedings on October 3, 2005.(XII,R2177-2180) The motion requested a new penalty phase proceeding due to an improper argument and emphasis placed by the State on a perceived lack of remorse by Mr. Peterson.(XII,R2177-2180) The State responded that any issues of this nature had not been preserved due to lack of objection and any references or comments were reasonable rebuttal to defense arguments.(XIII,R2181-2310) The defense motion was denied.

The Defense Memorandum in Support of a Life Sentence was filed on September 21, 2005 (XII,R2169-2176) and a Memorandum In Support of Jury Override Sentence was filed on December 27, 2005.(XIII,R2323-2331) The State's response, a Memorandum In Support of Imposition of Death Sentence was filed on November 21, 2005.(XIII,R2312-2322)

On January 6, 2006, the trial court imposed a sentence of death.(XIII,R2334-2350) The trial court found three aggravating factors: (1) The Defendant was under sentence of imprisonment at the time of the murder (great weight); (2) The Defendant has previous felony convictions (great weight); and (3) The Defendant committed the murder while in the commission of a robbery (significant, but not great weight).(XIII,R2337-2340;XVII,R2923-2930) The trial court found the following mitigating circumstances: (1) The Defendant's mental condition (little weight); (2) low IQ (little weight); (3) Family relationship (some weight); (4) Work history (some weight); (5) Exemplary discipline record in jail/prison (little weight).(XIII,R2340-2347;XVII,R2930-The trial court rejected two proposed statutory 2944) mitigators: Ability to conform conduct to the requirements of the law and age.(XIII,R2341-2343;XVII,R2931-38) court further found that the jury did not rely upon the

impermissible aggravating factors of lack of remorse and failure to testify.(XIII,R2347-2348;XVII,R2945-2949) The trial court again rejected the necessity of jury unanimity in the penalty phase recommendation.(XVII,R2921)

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on January 25, 2006.(XIII,R2357)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Motion to Suppress

Sgt. James Griffis of the St. Petersburg Police Department was in the robbery division from 1996-1998.(XIV,R2478) He was aware of an investigation into a series of robberies at discount stores.(XIV,R2479) Griffis had read all the police from reports these incidents.(XIV,R2479) Griffis felt that there similarities between the robberies- for example, a nylon mask was used in all of them and gloves were worn; the physical description of the perpetrator was the same; a Ford Bronco was observed at several; and a similar firearm was used.(XIV,R2480) Mr. Peterson's saliva was compared to DNA recovered at one of the robberies in October 1998.(XIV,R2480)

A search warrant was obtained to search Mr. Peterson's father's residence at 3963 Burlington Ave. N. and his

sister's residence at 50th Ave. S. in St. Petersburg.(XIV,R2483) Sgt. Griffis authored one of the affidavits used to obtain the warrant.(XIV,R2483) When drafting the affidavit, Griffis had all of the 15 robberies in his mind.(XIV,R2484) Griffis believed that clothing or masks might be found.(XIV,R2485) Griffis compiled a list of items that might be found from all the cases.(XIV,R2485) This handwritten list was given out at a briefing to the officers conducting the searches.(XIV,R2487) The list, culled from police reports of the other incidents, was not used in securing the warrant.(XIV,R2491) Items appear on list that are not mentioned in the affidavits. (XIV,R2491)

Retired officer Robert Mullin testified that he was a homicide detective in 1999.(XIV,R2496) He did not participate in the briefing prior to the search when the handwritten list was distributed.(XIV,R2497) He was the coordinator at each search site.(XIV,R2497) Mullin instructed the officers conducting the search on the protocol that would be used and on the scope of the search warrant.(XIV,R2498) The search period lasted several hours.(XIV,R2500)

Sqt. Kevin Smith assisted in the execution of the

warrant at Burlington Ave., including reading the warrant and affidavit to Mr. Willie Peterson.(XIV,R2505) Smith also participated in the search.(XIV,R2507) He recovered a McCrory's bag containing a black pistol and checks and receipts from the store in the garage.(XIV,R2507-08) The date on the receipts in the bag matched the date of the robbery of McCrory's listed in the affidavit.(XIV,R2509) The affidavit did not contain a specific description of any property taken from McCrory's.(XIV,R2511)

Officer Damien Schmidt assisted in the execution of the warrant at 50th Ave. South.(XIV,R2513) During a briefing before the search he was given information about 15 robberies and descriptions of clothing, weapons, and masks that were used in those robberies.(XIV,R2514) Schmidt received a handwritten list of items to look for.(XIV,R2515) Items were seized if they were described in the search warrant or on the list.(XIV,R2516;2519)

B. Trial Testimony: July 19-July 27, 2005

1. This offense

Karen Smith worked at Big Lots in St. Petersburg as an Assistant manager.(XXV,T1267) She was working on Christmas Eve, December 24, 1997.(XXV,T1267) One of her duties was to oversee the closing of the store.(XXV,T1268) Prior to

closing an announcement is made in order to clear customers from the store. (XXV,T1270) A store check is then done to make sure all customers have left.(XXV,T1270) After all customers are gone and the doors are locked, the register tills are removed, and the tills are brought to the cash office at the rear of the store for counting.(XXV,T1271)

Normally Big Lots records a surveillance tape. (XXV,T1267) Earlier in the day of the 24th, an employee was suspected of stealing and the tape was shut off and not reactivated.(XXV,T1268;1272-73) The store has non-public areas at the rear.(XXV,T1269) There is a stock room, break room, manager's office, and the cash office.(XXV,T1269) There are fire doors at the rear that can be opened from inside, but not from outside.(XXV,T1269)

The store closed at 6:00 p.m. on December 24th.(XXV,T1273;XXVI,T1343) Ms. Smith stood at the front doors to make sure all the customers left.(XXV,T1273) The store was checked and the doors were locked. (XXV,T1275;T1343). The employees in the store at this time were assistant manager Maria Soto, stocker Josh McBride, customer service person Wanda Church, cashier Shirley Bellamy, and stocker John Cardoso. (XXV,T1274;XXVI,T1341)

Ms. Smith and Ms. Soto were in the cash office when

they heard a ruckus outside.(XXV,T1278;XXVI,T1344) Soto heard a noise like banging furniture or firecrackers (XXVI,T1345) Ms. Smith went into the hall, where she was confronted by a man with a qun.(XXV,T1279;XXVI,T1348) small build and was about man (XXV,T1279;1281;XXVI,T1350) He had a small gun.(XXV,T1279) Ms. Soto thought the gun was black and could fit into the palm of a hand.(XXVI,T1349) Ms. Smith could not see the man's face well because he was wearing a nylon scarf as a mask.(XXV,T1280) Ms. Soto described the mask а stocking.(XXVI,T1348) Ms. Smith could tell the man was African-American and had pudgy cheeks.(XXV,T1280) wearing latex gloves.(XXV,T1280;XVI,T1350)

man was very demanding.(XXV,T1281) The Не and called the "bitches". profanity women (XXV,T1281;XXVI,T1352) The man demanded all the money. (XXV,T1281) The man took Ms. Smith and Ms. Soto into the manager's office where Ms. Bellamy was (XXV,T1282;XXVI,T1369) Ms. Bellamy started to pray a lot.(XXV,T1283) The man first told the three women to get on the floor, then changed his mind and had them leave the office and go to the stockroom.(XXV,T1283) The three women went single file down the hallway to the stockroom.

(XXV,T1284;XXVI,T1351,T1369) The man kept a gun beside Ms. Smith's head and held her arm in a hard, forceful manner.(XXV,T1284) Ms. Soto testified that the gun was at her back.(XXVI,T1351)

When they reached the door of the breakroom, they could see Mr. Cardoso's body lying on the floor.(XXV,T1285)
The women stepped over the body and went into the stockroom.(XXV,T1285;XXVI,T1351;T1369) Ms. Soto testified that the man was threatening continuously to kill them, to do what he had done to John.(XXVI,T1352) They were made to get on their hands and knees in a line.(XXV,T1286) At this time Josh McBride came around the corner and was also made to lie down.(XXV,T1286) Ms. Soto testified that the man kept telling them not to look at him and at one point he grabbed the collar of her shirt, put the gun against her temple, and said "Why are you looking at me. Don't look at me."(XXVI,T1353)

The man asked if there was anyone else in the store and Ms. Smith responded the cashier was up front.(XXV,T1288;XXVI,T1353) The man grabbed Ms. Smith, told the others to remain in the stockroom, and took her to get the cashier.(XXV,T1289)

Ms. Smith and the man went into the store and Ms.

Smith hollered for the cashier, Wanda.(XXV,T1290) The man held her arm and kept the gun pointed at her head.(XXV,T1291) Wanda came to the back area and the man took them both into the cash office.(XXV,T1293) The man had Wanda put the tills in the cash office.(XXV,T1294) The man then took Ms. Smith and Wanda back through the break room and into the stockroom to the others.(XXV,T1294) Ms. Smith was made to unlock the back door.(XXV,T1295)

After unlocking the door, the man took Ms. Smith back out to the break room, over Mr. Cardoso's body, and back into the cash office.(XXV,T1295) The cash office had better lighting and Ms. Smith was able to see the man's face a little better.(XXV,T1296) The man realized he had nothing to put the money in, so the two of them went into the store and got a book bag.(XXV,T1296) The man kept calling Ms. Smith a bitch and telling her not to look at They returned to the cash office and Ms. him.(XXV,T1296) the money from the tills into Smith put the The man left Ms. Smith in the cash room baq.(XXV,T1297) and returned to the stockroom to check the others.(XXV,T1298)

The man took Ms. Smith back to the stockroom after the money was packed.(XXV,T1300) He then took everyone from

the stockroom into the break room. (XXV,T1300;XXVI,T1356) Ms. Bellamy's stipulation stated that her hands were bound with plastic straps.(XXVI,T1370) They were all told to lie on the floor and to not move.(XXV,T1300;XVI,T1356) Ms. Soto testified that they could hear noises by the They stayed there fifteen or twenty door.(XXVI,T1357 minutes, then Soto and Wanda called ${\tt Ms.}$ the police.(XXV,T1301;XXVI,T1357)

Detective Richard McKee and Officer Dennis Porter arrived at Big Lots at 6:30 p.m.(XXIV,T1177) A male and female out front told them someone inside had shot.(XXIV,T1178) McKee found John Cardoso lying face down in employee break the room at the rear of the store.(XXIV,T1179) There were burn marks on the back of his shirt and he had no pulse.(XXIV,T1180) Three other persons were also lying on the floor with their hands behind their heads.(XXIV,T1179) All appeared to be in shock.(XXIV,T1182) Det. McKee directed leave.(XXIV,T1182)

In October 1998 Ms. Smith was shown a photopak.(XXV,T1302) She selected a photograph from that photopak.(XXV,T1304) Ms. Smith admitted that prior to viewing the photopak, she saw Mr. Peterson's picture on

television.(XXV,T1307) Ms. Soto was shown a photopak, but could not identify anyone.(XXVI,T1358,1365) believed if the circumstances were the same and the clothing was the same she would be able to make identification. (XXVI,T1359) She believed that the person was the black male in court, the only black male seated at table.(XXVI,T1359,1361) Ms. Soto noted that Peterson was wearing the same clothing in court that the robber wore-a white shirt and no tie.(XXVI,T1362) Soto's court identification was based on the clothing she was never able to see the face.(XXVI,T1362,1364) Ms. Bellamy was unable to make any identification.(XXVI,T1369)

A video of the crime scene, including photos of the body of Mr. Cardoso was shown to the jury.(XXIV,T1183-1201)

Dr. Noel Palma did not perform an autopsy on Mr. Cardoso, but testified to the conclusions from the autopsy that were reached by Dr. Nikolas Hartshorne.(XXVI,T1381-83) MΥ. Cardoso shot. once in middle \circ f was the back.(XXVI,T1384) The bullet pierced the left back, fourth rib on the left, perforated the lower left lobe of the lung, perforated the thoracic aorta, perforated the lower lobe of the right lung, the right side of the diaphragm,

and lodged in the right lobe of the liver.(XXVI,T1384-85)
The bullet traveled through the body from back to front,
left to right, and downwards.(XXVI,T1388) Mr. Cardoso's
shirt had soot or fouling on the back side consistent with
gunpowder residue.(XXVI,T1385) This residue was consistent
with the firing of a gun less than a foot away.(XXVI,T1386)
Bruises and contusions were also observed on the upper
right back, mid-lateral back, right flank, back of the
right hand, and inner aspect of the right arm of the
body.(XXVI,T1386-87) The bruising was consistent with
occurring before death.(XXVI,T1387;1389) A bullet and Mr.
Cardoso's shirt was collected from the autopsy.(XXIV,T120204)

Yolanda Soto, of FDLE, examined the bullet recovered at the autopsy.(XXVI,T1392) She determined it was a .25 caliber bullet.(XXVI,T1393) A bullet of this type can be fired from a semiautomatic pistol.(XXVI,T1393) She did not have a firearm to test.(XXVI,T1393)

Robert Davis testified that he was a customer in Big Lots on Christmas Eve just before closing.(XXVI,T1371) He was buying stocking stuffers for his daughter.(XXVI,T1371) Mr. Davis went into the back of the store to look around the tool department.(XXVI,T1372) He came into contact with

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