IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES C. PETERSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-252 L.T. No. CRC00-05107CFANO-1

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0327832
Concourse Center #4
3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607
Phone: (813) 287-7900
Fax: (813) 281-5500

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Dr. Maher suggested that the Defendant lacked the full emotional capacity of an adult and was functioning at the emotional level of a fourteen to sixteen year old. Dr. Maher could offer no objective evidence to support this speculation, and could point to no environmental cause for the Defendant's arrested emotional development other than that the Defendant

had to overcome his limited intelligence at school and was a black man in the community. Dr. Maher also testified that even a child in elementary school has the ability to understand that robbery and murder are wrong.

The court finds that the Defendant was mature enough to extensively plan out sophisticated robberies, had a job for seven years, and maintain familial relationships. These observations demonstrate that the Defendant was capable of functioning as a mature adult. Overall, though, the court finds that the Defense has established that the Defendant is emotionally immature but gives this statutory factor little weight, as the immaturity did not impair him in planning the sophisticated robbery.

C. Low IQ - Non-Statutory

Dr. McClain is the forensic psychologist who conducted the Defendant's IQ testing. She testified that with respect to the Defendant's overall IQ functioning, his IQ was within the borderline range. As noted above, Dr. McClain did not testify that the Defendant's IQ prevented him from conforming his conduct to the requirements of law or appreciating the criminality of his actions.

Dr. Maher described the Defendant's IQ as being in the low normal range. However, Dr. Maher's testimony failed to establish that this factor has any significant relation to his ability to appreciate the criminality of his actions. The Defendant's ability to commit the crime as described above is inconsistent with a low to borderline IQ. Further, the ability to maintain consistent employment for seven years is also a contradiction.

The court finds that the Defendant does have a low to normal IQ. However, the court gives this finding little weight, as he was clearly able to plan out his robberies in an increasingly sophisticated manner. As mentioned above, the Defendant thoroughly prepared for each crime by learning the hours and days of each business' operation, scoping out available exits and security, and attending to the number of personnel. He

committed the crimes at times and on days that minimized the potential for being caught but maximized profit.

D. Background, Environment, and Mental Status - Non-Statutory

As explained above, the court has found that the Defendant's mental status does not amount to a statutory mitigating circumstance. However, the court now analyzes whether his background and the environment in which he was raised, combined with his mental status, constitutes a non-statutory mitigating circumstance.

Dr. Maher testified that the Defendant faced certain challenges in his life. He specifically referenced the Defendant's low to normal IQ and growing up as a black man in the community. The Defendant's mother testified that the Defendant was a loving son and a well behaved child. She did not indicate that his childhood was plagued by abuse or other problems.

For the reasons articulated above the court finds that the Defendant does not suffer from any type of mental or emotional disturbance other than some degree of immaturity and a low IQ. The court finds that the Defendant has some limited mental impairment but gives this finding little weight in light of the Defendant's ability to work around these impairments by committing sophisticated robberies. The court further finds that the Defendant's background and the environment in which he was raised does not mitigate this crime.

E. Family Relationships - Non-Statutory

During the penalty phase of the trial, the Defendant's mother and niece each testified regarding their relationship with the Defendant. Their testimony established that the Defendant was well behaved as a child and was a positive father figure to his niece. Although there is very little objective proof of this assertion, the court is reasonably convinced it has been established because the standard for the establishment of the existence of this factor

is relatively low. The court gives this mitigator some weight.

F. Work History - Non-Statutory

The Defendant's mother testified that the Defendant maintained consistent employment for seven years after his release on parole. Again, the relatively low standard for the establishment of such a factor reasonably convinces the court that this factor exists and the court gives it some weight.

G. Exemplary Disciplinary Records in Jail/Prison – Non-Statutory

During the penalty phase of the trial, the Defendant presented Linda Dyer as a witness. Ms. Dyer is the classifications supervisor and custodian of records for the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office. She keeps records of all the disciplinary reports, which are issued whenever an inmate breaks a rule of the Ms. Dyer testified that the Pinellas County Sheriff had custody of the Defendant from January 19, 2001 through the date of the penalty phase. During that time, he had one disciplinary report. testified that based on her twenty-one years of experience in classifications, one disciplinary report in over four years is a good record. The Defendant also entered into evidence a disciplinary report from the Hillsborough County Jail revealing that Defendant had one disciplinary report issued against him during the time he was incarcerated there. Additionally, Dr. Maher testified that the Defendant is able to behave and function properly when he is placed in a highly controlled and supervised prison environment. The court finds that this mitigating circumstance was established but gives it little weight.

H. Lack of Premeditation - Non-Statutory

The Defense argues that the death penalty should not be imposed because the State did not prove that the Defendant acted with premeditation or that he had the intent to kill Mr. Cardoso. However, the court finds that ample evidence of premeditation was

presented at trial.

The Defendant shot Mr. Cardoso when they were alone inside a break room at Big Lots. heard what sounded like a struggle or confrontation, and the autopsy revealed bruising on Mr. Cardoso's right shoulder, arm, and hand consistent with having occurred at or immediately before the shooting. The fatal qunshot wound entered the victim's upper left shoulder below the neckline and traveled downward in a to front, left to right trajectory. Circumstantial evidence including the path of the bullet, the distance from which the gun was fired, and the fact that the gun was aimed at a vital area, striking the lung, liver, and major blood vessels, suggests that Mr. Cardoso was shot while in a submissive, kneeling position with his torso leaning toward the floor and the Defendant standing above him, while Mr. Cardoso was not struggling and posed no immediate threat to the Defendant.

Even after firing the fatal gunshot, the Defendant executed the robbery as planned without allowing other employees to call for medical help to save Mr. Cardoso's life. Throughout the robbery, the Defendant repeatedly threatened to kill victims who disobeyed his commands and held a loaded pistol to victims' heads. All this evidence indicates that the Defendant was prepared to use lethal force to overcome any resistance he encountered during the planned commission of the robbery.

Even if the court was to find that there was no evidence of premeditation, the lack of premeditation alone is not a legal bar to the imposition of the death sentence. Since the Defendant acted alone and personally shot Mr. Cardoso, it was unnecessary for the court to either instruct the jury or to make specific findings under *Enmund v. Florida*, 458 U.S. 782 (1982) or *Tison v. Arizona*, 481 U.S. 137 (1987).

The Court's holding in *Enmund* that an accomplice in a first degree felony murder could not be sentenced to death if he did not actually kill or intend to kill or intend that lethal force be used was later modified

in *Tison*. *Id*. at 146. There, the court held that an accomplice in a felony murder who did not himself inflict the fatal wound was nonetheless subject to the death penalty if he was a major participant in the underlying felony and showed reckless disregard for human life. *Id*. at 158. By authorizing the imposition of the death penalty on accomplices who did not possess the intent to kill, both the United States' Supreme Court and the Florida Supreme Court have clearly ruled that premeditation is not a prerequisite to capital punishment.

The court finds that the Defendant has not established this factor and therefore gives it no weight.

D. Invalid Aggravating Factors - Non-Statutory

The Defendant contends that the jury's recommendation was based on invalid aggravating factors. Specifically, he contends that his alleged lack of remorse and failure to testify are improper aggravating factors and cannot be considered. Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527, 532 (1992).

The Defense also presented this argument in his Motion Concerning Penalty Phase Proceedings in which he requested a new penalty phase. The court thoroughly reviewed and heard this issue and denied that motion on November 7, 2005. Here, the Defendant again contends that the jury improperly considered his lack of remorse and failure to testify in making its sentencing recommendation. While the court's ruling is unchanged, it is appropriate to briefly address the matter in this sentencing order as well.

During the trial, the court had well-acquainted herself with relevant law concerning proper argument with respect to aggravators and mitigators in cases where the death penalty is sought. Prior to the closing arguments in the penalty phase, the court specifically advised the attorneys of the lawful parameters of said closing, and that the court would be listening very closely to the remarks of the attorneys and would not hesitate to intercede in its responsibility to assure a fair trial. Among the list

of comments the court prohibited was any attempt on the part of the State to argue "lack of remorse" as an aggravator. The court was well aware that lack of remorse is an improper aggravator and cannot considered. The court was alert to any potential improper argument in this regard. Earlier, during the cross-examination of defense witness Dr. Maher by Assistant State Attorney Crow, the Defense objected that Mr. Crow's questioning was moving into an area of "remorse, or lack of remorse." In fact, the court found that while Mr. Crow's questions were proper, that he should use caution in asking such questions. The court zealously ensured throughout the penalty phase that there be no argument of lack of remorse as an aggravator and the court is well-satisfied that such an impropriety did not take place.

At no time during the trial did the State attempt to prove any aggravating factors by introducing evidence of lack of remorse, nor did it argue lack of remorse as a non-statutory aggravator. Two primary themes existed throughout the Defense's penalty phase presentation. First, that the Defendant's actions were not premeditated and second, that the Defendant's actions were the result of some type of mental impairment or diminished capacity. Such arguments invited the State to, among other things, provide evidence and arguments that the Defendant's actions were premeditated and that he had the capacity to know that his actions were wrong. Addressing these areas by either side necessarily involves testimony and argument regarding the Defendant's state of mind at the time of the killing. "Remorse," though, is an entirely different concept having to do with regret for some past deed. The State has correctly argued that remorse is not related to the Defendant's intent during a crime but is instead defined as "a gnawing distress arising from a sense of quilt for past wrongs (as injuries to others)." Beasley v. State, 774 So 2d 649, 672 (Fla 2000).

The focus of the State was not on "remorse" in any way. Rather the focus of the State was on the state of mind of the Defendant during the murder. The State's cross-examination questions and argument in this

regard were invited by the Defense, but would have ostensibly been proper even had they not been invited.

The Defendant also alleges that the jury foreperson's out of court statements prove that the jury improperly considered his lack of remorse and also his failure to testify in rendering its decision. The comments at issue here were made to journalists and printed in articles in the St. Petersburg Times and the Tampa However, Florida law prohibits the use of juror testimony to impeach a verdict. § 90.607(2)(b), Fla. Stat.; Sims v. State, 444 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1984) testimony concerning the jury's (Juror alleged consideration of the Defendant's failure to testify was inadmissible as this is a matter that inheres in the verdict). Devoney v. State, 717 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1998)(Juror testimony that jury may have relied on inadmissible evidence, which the court had instructed them to ignore, was inadmissible as a basis for granting a new trial).

Summary of Mitigating Factors

The court finds that with regard to the various mitigating factors, the following were established: the Defendant had a good relationship with at least two family members, maintained consistent employment for seven years after his release on parole, had an exemplary disciplinary record while in jail, had the mental immaturity of a teenager and had a low to normal IQ. The court has given each of these factors some or little weight as set out above. It is notable some of these factors, while establishing mitigation, also support a finding that the Defendant was able to appreciate the criminality of his actions.

Proportionality Review

The court recognizes that the Supreme Court of Florida will conduct a proportionality review of the sentence in this case. See Dixon v. State, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973). The most logical interpretation of the evidence in this case established that the Defendant intentionally and with premeditation shot Mr. Cardoso during the commission of a robbery. The Defendant

shot Mr. Cardoso while Mr. Cardoso was unarmed and kneeling on the floor in a passive position. Further the Defendant was on parole at the time of the murder and had committed thirteen prior felony offenses. Nothing about the nature of the offense, the Defendant's age, mental ability, or background suggests that a death sentence for his conduct would be disproportionate. Furthermore, the court's review of other capital cases has led the court to conclude that the death penalty would be a proportionate sentence in this case.

Conclusion

The court finds that the State has established three aggravating factors beyond a reasonable doubt, and the court further finds that five mitigating circumstances have been established. The court recognizes that in considering the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, there is no arithmetic formula. It is not enough to weigh the number of aggravators against the number of mitigators. The court carefully considered the nature and quality of each of the aggravators and mitigators.

The aggravating circumstances in this case are atrocious. The Defendant has a life long history of violent crimes as demonstrated by his thirteen prior violent felony convictions. At the time he committed the murder of John Cardoso, in the course of a robbery, he was on parole for committing other robberies. These factors greatly outweigh the comparatively insignificant mitigating factors. court has considered and given great weight to the advisory verdict of the jury, who by a vote of eight to four recommended that the death penalty be imposed. court also independently finds that aggravating factors far outweigh the mitigating factors, and the murder of John Cardoso thus warrants the imposition of the death penalty.

(V13/2338-2350) (e.s.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I - The Williams Rule Claim

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting collateral crimes evidence. Peterson's collateral crimes were uniquely similar and admissible to prove his common modus operandi (M.O.) and, therefore, identity. Also, Peterson's collateral crimes were admissible to prove his intent/motive, opportunity, preparation, plan, knowledge, absence of mistake/accident, and to rebut any innocent explanation for Peterson's behavior and possession of certain items. Finally, as the trial court explicitly found, the collateral crimes evidence did not become a feature of the trial.

Issue II - The Lethal Injection Claim

The defendant's lethal injection claim is procedurally barred and without merit. Peterson did not raise any challenge to lethal injection in the trial court. Furthermore, as this Court repeatedly has held, execution by lethal injection does not constitute cruel and unusual punishment.

Issue III - The Proportionality Claim

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